
675 Texas Street

Fairfield, California 94533

www.solanocounty.com

Solano County

Minutes - Final
Board of Supervisors

Erin Hannigan (Dist. 1), Chairwoman

(707) 553-5363

John M. Vasquez (Dist. 4), Vice-Chair

(707) 784-6129

Linda J. Seifert (Dist. 2)

(707) 784-3031

James P. Spering (Dist. 3)

(707) 784-6136

Skip Thomson (Dist. 5)

(707) 784-6130

2:00 PM Board of Supervisors ChambersTuesday, November 10, 2015

AMENDED

CALL TO ORDER
The Solano County Board of Supervisors met on the 10th day of November 

2015 in regular session in the Board of Supervisors' Chambers at the Solano 

County Government Center, 675 Texas Street, Fairfield, California at 2:00 

p.m.  Present were Supervisors Seifert, Spering, Thomson, Vasquez and 

Chairwoman Hannigan.  Chairwoman Hannigan presided.  Also present 

were County Administrator Birgitta E. Corsello and County Counsel Dennis 

Bunting.

ROLL CALL

John M. Vasquez, Erin Hannigan, Linda J. Seifert, James P. Spering and 

Skip  Thomson
Present 5 - 

CLOSED SESSION
The Solano County Board of Supervisors recessed to Closed Session at 

2:31 p.m. to discuss the following matters:

1 15-1068 Conference with Labor Negotiators:

Solano County representatives: Marc Fox, Jeannine Seher, David Pak, Don 

Turko, Georgia Cochran, Birgitta E. Corsello, and Nancy Huston. Employee 

organizations: Teamsters, Local 150 for Unit 1 (Attorneys); SEIU Local 1021 

for Unit 2 (Nurses), Unit 5 (Health and Welfare  Employees), Unit 7 

(Regulatory, Technical and General Services Employees), Unit 8 (General 

Services Supervisors), Unit 9 (Clerical Employees) and Units 82, 87, 89, and 

90 (Extra Help Employees); Solano County Deputy Sheriff’s Association for 

Unit 3 (Law Enforcement Employees) and Unit 4 (Law Enforcement 

Supervisors); Public Employees Union, Local One for Unit 6 (Health and 

Welfare Supervisors) and Unit 16 (Mid-Management Employees); Stationary 

Engineers, Local 39 for Unit 10 (Skilled Craft and Service Maintenance 

Page 1Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9166


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Employees); Union of American Physicians and Dentists for Unit 11 

(Physicians, Dentists and Psychiatrists); Solano County Probation Peace 

Officer Association for Unit 12 (Probation Employees) and Unit 15 (Probation 

Supervisors); Solano County Sheriff’s Custody Association for Unit 13 

(Correctional Officers); Teamsters, Local 856 for Unit 14 (Correctional 

Supervisors); Solano County Law Enforcement Management Association for 

Unit 17 (Law Enforcement Management) and Unit 18 (Sheriff’s Office 

Management); Professional and Technical Engineers, Local 21 for Unit 19 

(Executive and Senior Management); and unrepresented employees

In-Home Supportive Services Authority representatives: Marc Fox, Gerald 

Huber and Birgitta E. Corsello. Employee organization: SEIU Local 2015

Conference with Real Property Negotiators: 

Property: APN 0168-580-060, 1055 Horizon Drive, Suite B, Fairfield, 

California; County Negotiators:  Michael Lango, General Services Director 

and Keith Hanson, Real Estate Manager; Negotiating Party: Jon Quick. 

Under negotiation: Price and terms.

Properties: 9 Public Parking Lots and 2 vacant lots, Vacaville (APNs 

0130-185-220, 0130-192-160, 0130-204-010, 0130-204-100, 0130-182-160 

& 0130-182-150, 130-097-030, 0130-098-020 & 0130-098-030, 

0130-094-160, 0130-094-200 & 0130-094-020, 0129-250-580 and 

0134-480-100); Agency negotiators: Birgitta E. Corsello, County 

Administrator and Nancy Huston, Assistant County Administrator; 

Negotiating parties: Jeremy Craig and Emily Cantu. Under negotiation: Price 

and terms.

Conference with Legal Counsel - Anticipated Litigation: One case

Conference with Legal Counsel - Existing Litigation: Upper Green Valley 

Homeowners Association v. County of Solano

A - MemorandumAttachments:

County Counsel Dennis Bunting noted that the Closed Session item had 

been amended to include a Conference with Legal Counsel - Existing 

Litigation: Upper Green Valley Homeowners Association v. County of 

Solano.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Thomson, the Board 

approved the amendment to the Closed Session item. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

RECONVENE

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors reconvened at 2:30 

p.m.  All members were present and Chairwoman Hannigan presided.

Page 2Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=417b89b3-f871-46ce-b40a-589f0531e610.doc


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

REPORT OF ACTION IN CLOSED SESSION

County Counsel Dennis Bunting reported that Supervisor Spering declared a 

conflict of interest in the Real Property Negotiations on 1055 Horizon Drive, 

Suite B, and excused himself, left the room and did not participate in the 

discussion on the matter. He also reported that in the Existing Litigation 

matter regarding Upper Green Valley Homeowners Association v. County of 

Solano, the Board, by unanimous vote, had authorized County Counsel to 

pay a litigation expense of $95,846.

SALUTE TO THE FLAG AND A MOMENT OF SILENCE

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors continued with the 

Salute to the Flag and a Moment of Silence.

PRESENTATIONS

2 15-1050 Adopt and present a resolution recognizing December 12, 2015 as the 10th 

Anniversary of Wreaths Across America at Sacramento Valley National 

Cemetery in Solano County (Supervisor Vasquez)

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

adopted and presented Resolution No. 2015-207 recognizing December 12, 

2015 as the 10th Anniversary of Wreaths Across America at Sacramento Valley 

National Cemetery in Solano County. So ordered by 5-0 vote. (see Resolution 

Book)

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-207

3 15-1025 Receive a presentation from the Food Bank of Contra Costa and Solano; 

and Adopt a resolution accepting the 2015 “Peace, Love and Veggies 

Holiday Food Fight II” friendly challenge from Contra Costa County 

(Chairwoman Hannigan)

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

On motion of Supervisor Thomson, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the 

Board adopted and presented Resolution No. 2015-208 accepting the 2015 

"Peace, Love and Veggies Holiday Food Fight II" friendly challenge from 

Contra Costa County. So ordered by 5-0 vote. (see Resolution Book)

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-208

Page 3Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9150
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=dd2e5933-46e7-4d8a-8e87-475ac1153252.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1efd63a5-faeb-4c52-8048-bdcd9e02d8e7.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5d569f4e-34f1-4984-92b2-c88daad95be1.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9123
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9f54dd28-bb27-4f21-a0c5-e7f5c0a6fa3b.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d8d3cb56-8815-40c5-b9e4-729dc1c0898b.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=df1c7024-bf57-48a1-b1c2-92c87074e85c.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

4 15-1012 Adopt and present a resolution recognizing the month of November 2015 as 

Child Adoption Month in Solano County (Supervisor Thomson)

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Supervisor Spering left the dais at 2:45 p.m. and returned at 2:48 p.m. after 

the vote had been taken on this item.

On motion of Supervisor Thomson, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the 

Board adopted and presented Resolution No. 2015-209 recognizing the month 

of November 2015 as Child Adoption Month in Solano County. So ordered by 

4-0 vote. (see Resolution Book)

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-209

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on matters not listed on the agenda but within the subject matter jurisdiction 

of the Board.  The following comments were received:

A) Eugene Korte, Vacaville, commented on cyber terrorism, internet

monitoring, and selective law enforcement activities.

B) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on a newspaper

article regarding grading of public agencies for transparency and 

accountability, the public speaking period at Board meetings and a request 

he had submitted regarding the definition of public.

C) Nadeen Roach, Chief Steward for SEIU 1021, commented on the work

done by social workers and current labor negotiations.

D) Akbar Bibb, President of SEIU 1021, commented on current labor

negotiations and submitted a petition and postcards from union members.

E) Linda Cheesman, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations.

F) Shelby Gonsalez, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations and submitted postcards from union members.

G) Cherryl Julian, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations.

H) Christa Forgues, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations.

I) Kelly Cameron, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations.

Page 4Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9110
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8df0cae2-01d8-41a2-8670-fa7e886c6b3b.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b28d3e26-236f-4f65-8808-f7241ca1008a.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=053e7394-c855-4c36-ae8f-893674b4797b.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

J) Kristin Loomis, County employee, commented on current labor

negotiations.

ADDITIONS TO OR DELETIONS FROM THE AGENDA

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello noted that the agenda had been 

amended to add three successor bargaining agreements (Items 8-10) and 

requested that the Solano County Board of Supervisors' agenda for 

November 10, 2015 be amended further to include two additional successor 

bargaining agreements for Units 3 and 4.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the addition of the following items to the November 10, 2015 agenda:

15-1098  Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining 

agreement between Solano County and Unit 3 - Law Enforcement Employees 

with the Solano County Deputy Sheriff’s Association

15-1099  Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining 

agreement between Solano County and Unit 4 - Law Enforcement Supervisors 

with the Solano County Deputy Sheriff’s Association

So ordered by 5-0 vote.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the agenda of the Solano County Board of Supervisors for November 

10, 2015 as amended.  So ordered by 5-0 vote.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CONSENT CALENDAR

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on items listed on the Consent Calendar. There was no public comment.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the following Consent Calendar items by 5-0 vote.

CONSENT CALENDAR

5 15-1049 Authorize the County’s contribution of $250 from the General Fund 

contribution allocated to District 5 to benefit the Salvation Army of Solano 

County

Approved

Page 5Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9149


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

6 15-1055 Receive the Audit of the Treasurer-Tax Collector’s Records and Accounts 

Relating to Property Tax Redemption for the period July 1, 2011 through 

June 30, 2014

A - ReportAttachments:

Received

7 15-1064 Approve a contract amendment in the amount of $59,550 with Mead & Hunt, 

Inc. of Santa Rosa to prepare an environmental review analysis for the East 

Side Tree Obstruction Removal Project; Approve a Reimbursement 

Agreement with Solano Community College in the amount of $30,000; and 

Delegate contractual signing authority to the County Administrator within the 

established project budget

A - Project Map

B - Contract Amendment

C - Reimbursement Agreement

Executed Contract Amendment

Executed Reimbursement Agreement

Minute Order

Attachments:

Approved

8 15-1093 Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining agreement 

between Solano County and Unit 10 - Skilled Craft & Service Maintenance 

Employees with the International Union of Operating Engineers, Stationary 

Engineers Local #39

A - Unit 10 MOU

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-210

9 15-1095 Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining agreement 

between Solano County and Unit 12 - Probation Employees with the Solano 

Probation Peace Officer Association

A - Unit 12 MOU

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-211

Page 6Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9156
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fff99251-734a-468a-bfc2-9bd0028ae09a.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9162
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d774f09-3bca-4928-ba65-1abc84f2ed11.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e1a4f431-cafe-41b6-879f-141d6bdc4203.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6906e496-beec-4101-815a-82c2d0468385.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=846b2a1e-0a62-4d1f-8fb7-09ce8d3d23a3.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=72da32f2-b56b-45d8-a8bd-865876627863.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aa6cbc23-76f8-490a-92ac-20681411ac14.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9190
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2ebeb866-7819-4c03-9e24-0179951dcd38.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=953bda87-a374-4649-9a46-eccd654bf2ca.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aa3a2d60-6a99-43d6-a07f-bce708de74bd.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d585d03f-500c-4756-b1f1-5e6c45cd739f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9192
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=71676217-bf0a-49c4-9121-f2b19e346a3a.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=29f18449-d62b-4722-80e0-69a472b163f2.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a47c048d-10ca-4934-a389-c9633a138c89.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e6715ea0-8d7d-4d74-889d-a26df5ace925.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

10 15-1097 Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining agreement 

between Solano County and Unit 15 - Probation Supervisors with the Solano 

Probation Peace Officer Association

A - Unit 15 MOU

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-212

15-1098 Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining agreement 

between Solano County and Unit 3 - Law Enforcement Employees with the 

Solano County Deputy Sheriff’s Association

A - Unit 3 MOU

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-213

15-1099 Adopt a resolution approving a successor collective bargaining agreement 

between Solano County and Unit 4 - Law Enforcement Supervisors with the 

Solano County Deputy Sheriff’s Association

A - Unit 4 MOU

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-214

Page 7Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9194
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4e5d8ed3-38e0-4e40-9ffd-ace2748511e0.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f6f53c87-97dc-4ec9-8102-bb7837c35dce.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a97776d4-3295-4af9-bef5-da4dab5eed70.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b1cdc892-533a-44a8-a62f-468150d4f5fc.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

11 15-1053 Approve a revenue agreement with First 5 California for up to $498,460 for 

the period of July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2020 for the First 5 Improve and 

Maximize Programs to support the All Children Thrive (IMPACT) program; 

Authorize the First 5 Solano Executive Director to execute the revenue 

agreement; Approve a contract with Solano County Office of Education for 

$103,711 to plan and begin implementation of the First 5 IMPACT program 

for a term ending June 30, 2016; and Authorize the County Administrator to 

execute the expenditure contract 

A - First 5 California Contract

B - SCOE Contract

Executed First 5 California Contract

Executed SCOE Contract

Minute Order

Attachments:

Approved

12 15-0987 Adopt a resolution recognizing November as In-Home Supportive Services 

(IHSS) Care Workers Month in Solano County

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-215

13 15-1051 Adopt a resolution authorizing the Solano County District Attorney's prior 

submission of a grant proposal to the California Department of Insurance for 

the investigation and prosecution of automobile insurance fraud; Authorize 

the District Attorney to accept the award in the amount of $91,787 for the 

period ending June 30, 2016; and Approve an Appropriation Transfer 

Request recognizing $9,287 in unanticipated grant revenue offset by 

program expenditures (4/5 vote required) 

A - Resolution

B - Grant Application

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-216

Page 8Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9153
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c9b21c47-d25c-4bce-b5d8-2b9d4fd47b44.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1fb29eeb-9422-481b-8a29-a426674c54d9.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b4c4b9bc-5619-4aa2-b345-3052ae8870b5.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2b8d4b92-1b6e-4e94-9e5e-183f17a1edf2.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5dddace5-d132-40df-9d82-a6180feabd03.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9083
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5e28f2e0-ddbd-4444-a526-891e2bc73e59.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=43689032-bdb6-4742-9b14-40ddbb35c098.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=87d2d2d2-9f8b-446c-afe1-49055b53d140.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9151
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=874df621-c103-4850-8148-d87e19ae52cc.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=138a04f2-cc63-435a-85a9-630ca5a98ec7.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b4a293b1-cb83-4497-ad07-3e2bc7928b43.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0c634729-2fad-46f6-938f-2258683b6b6f.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

14 15-1033 Approve a revenue contract extension in the amount of $287,045 with the 

Judicial Council of California under which the Public Defender and Alternate 

Public Defender represents adult and juvenile clients in Juvenile 

Dependency Proceedings for the period January 1, 2016 through October 

31, 2016; Authorize the County Administrator to execute the agreement; 

Approve an Appropriation Transfer Request recognizing $172,227 in 

unanticipated revenue under the contract extension from January 1, 2016 

through June 30, 2016 (4/5 vote required); and Adopt a resolution amending 

the List of Numbers and Classifications of Positions to extend 2.0 FTE (LT) 

Deputy Public Defender from January 1, 2016 through October 31, 2016

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2015-217

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

15 15-1054 Approve the appointment of John Abel, Tom Atwood, Frank Johnson and 

Rich Tesene as Trustees of Reclamation District No. 2136

A - RD 2136 CorrespondenceAttachments:

Approved

16 15-1052
Approve the Solano Children’s Alliance (SCA) membership appointment of 

Maria Vicondoa for a term ending November 10, 2017; and Approve the 

reappointments of Aaron Crutison, Pamela Dixon, Pamela Posehn, Lisette 

Estrella-Henderson, Mark Bontrager, Gloria Diaz, Kathy Lago, and Gale 

Bowen to serve additional two year terms expiring November 26, 2017

A - Membership RosterAttachments:

Approved

Page 9Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9131
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=12bd5706-4f1b-4d7d-b270-3c7864d3125e.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2762a090-6f14-4492-b089-afd81ace4b05.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=31dcf1ae-014a-43e0-8f85-16d24247087e.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9154
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d0e122a0-ca2a-49ed-aca1-8bbb25e0e897.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9152
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a66c8d2a-fd2f-438b-90d6-62787200d7df.docx


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

REGULAR CALENDAR

17 15-1077 Review and consider approval of Solano County’s Proposed 2016 State 

Legislative Platform, the Proposed 2016 Federal Legislative Platform, and a 

Legislative Proposal to separate the County and Trial Court ’s Retirement 

Plan; and Receive an end-of-session state legislative update from the 

County’s state legislative advocate

A - Proposed 2016 State Legislative Platform (Redlined)

B - Proposed 2016 State Legislative Platform (Clean)

C - Proposed 2016 Federal Legislative Platform (Redlined)

D - Proposed 2016 Federal Legislative Platform (Clean)

E - County & Trial Court Retirement Plan Separation

F - State End-of-Session Legislative Update

G - Federal Legislative Update

H - Powdered Alcohol HOAC and JAMA

Attachments:

Supervisor Thomson left the dais at 3:36 p.m.

Legislative, Intergovernmental and Public Affairs Officer Michelle Heppner 

introduced  the item and provided the Board with an overview of the 

proposed 2016 State Legislative Platform, the proposed 2016 Federal 

Legislative Platform and a legislative proposal to separate the County and 

Trial Court's Retirement Plan.

Supervisor Seifert commented on ground water issues references within the 

platforms.

Ms. Heppner noted that she would add the reference.

Supervisor Seifert commented on homelessness and a need to spell out a 

specific reference to support legislation that address efforts to reduce 

homelessness.

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that a reference had been added under 

Housing Community and Economic Development as Item 2.

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello suggested that a reference to 

groundwater be located on the State platform under Agriculture, Natural 

Resources and Water as part of Item 5. 

Supervisor Seifert noted that there should be an individual reference to 

address groundwater specifically.

Ms. Corsello noted that the item could be expanded to add a specific 

groundwater reference.

Supervisor Thomson returned to dais at 3:44 p.m.

Page 10Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9174
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7a396e1a-580a-4c3e-aa08-ea4f828deb73.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=368afa11-5063-4e7f-a5a7-86130865b684.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=16985a6f-f26c-4fe0-b5c7-dbae1ccc758f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8ea81676-cf29-4e62-a319-65fd344917f0.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=649bcd20-6a39-4360-8640-a5c0020151bd.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c0282e39-3fa9-4573-8a17-691db2fc42a0.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=63f0db55-8cbf-4bd3-8e1e-c6dfae9c0a16.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f61e6357-69ce-4280-9f06-fc67fb3a2fcc.pdf


November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Spering requested that a reference be added for rail car safety 

and Positive Train Control (PTC).

Ms. Heppner suggested adding the language that she and Supervisor 

Spering had worked on for discussion at the last 4C's meeting.

Supervisor Spering agreed and commented on the importance of having the 

reference.

In response to Supervisor Seifert, Ms. Heppner noted that she would send 

the language to her via email.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

approved the 2016 State Legislative Platform and the 2016 Federal Legislative 

Platform. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

Ms. Corsello commented on the Federal platform noting that it references rail 

car safety and had been revised for the upcoming year. 

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that the reference was on page C6 under Item 

5. 

Ms. Corsello asked if the revised reference was accurate or whether 

Supervisor Spering would like it to be further refined.

Supervisor Spering noted that a specific reference to PTC was needed.

Ms. Heppner noted that she would add that reference to the Federal 

platform.

Ms. Heppner provided the Board with an overview of the proposal to 

separate the County and Trial Court’s retirement plans.

Supervisor Seifert commented on the importance of consulting with the 

courts and that the separation made sense. 

Ms. Heppner noted that the courts had offered to write a support letter for 

the legislation.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on this matter and the following comments were received:

A)George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented on AB 661, consultant

involvement  in campaigns, Cap-and-Trade Program legislation, climate 

change, vehicle registration fees, and increases to taxes and fees.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the Legislative Proposal to Separate the County and Trial Court's 

Retirement Plan. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

State Legislative Advocate Paul Yoder provided the Board with an update on 

state legislative activities.

Page 11Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Vasquez commented on groundwater legislation.

Mr. Yoder commented that there was an expectation that larger entities 

would be formed and hadn't been, and said that he thought there might be 

an unrelenting push from the Governor and legislators in this area.

Supervisor Vasquez agreed and commented further on groundwater 

management.

Mr. Yoder noted that there wasn't any push yet.  He then commented on 

groundwater sub-basin legislation, noting the possibility of the Governor and 

legislators revisiting the topic.

Supervisor Seifert commented on deadlines for sub-basin boundary 

determinations and the lack of feasibility under the deadlines. She suggested 

looking at whether an extension or exception should be explored to 

determine where the sub-basins are.  

In response to comments from Mr. Yoder, Supervisor Seifert noted that an 

extension of the timelines could happen without impacting other deadlines. 

She further noted the need to provide enough time to look at what was best 

within the County's own sub-basin.

Mr. Yoder commented that the key would be whether the legislators and 

administration could be convinced that doing this would lead to a better 

outcome.

Supervisor Vasquez commented that the whole thing had been done in a 

rush and noted need to look at the state's water holistically and how it 

provides water to every citizen.

Supervisor Spering asked what the definition of a group home was in the 

legislation.

Ms. Corsello commented on the topic of group homes and noted that staff 

would be bringing the topic back for discussion as it impacted foster care.

Mr. Yoder noted that it was possible that they may see something in the 

budget on this item in January.

County Counsel Dennis Bunting commented on specialized group homes 

and commended Deputy County Counsel Bernadette Curry for her work on 

SB 762. 

Ms. Corsello noted that staff had added language regarding powdered 

alcohol because of the need for the state to step in and assist with this issue. 

She further noted that that this fell under protecting youth and health 

outcomes.

Page 12Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Ms. Heppner also commented on powdered alcohol and noted that Senator 

Dodd's office had been corresponding with staff regarding legislation that 

was coming out in the future on this topic. 

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

approved  the proposed 2016 State and Federal Legislative Platforms with the 

addition of language regarding Positive Train Control (PTC).  So ordered by 5-0 

vote.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved  the County and Trial Court's Retirement Plan separation.  So 

ordered by 5-0 vote.

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS AND REPORTS ON MEETINGS

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the Board to make comments or 

reports on meetings. The following comments were received:

A. Supervisor Seifert thanked everyone for the condolences and support of 

her recent injury and noted that it was good to be back.

B. Supervisor Thomson requested that this meeting of the Solano County 

Board of Supervisors be adjourned in memory of Albert Joseph Coglianese, 

an active member of the Rio Vista community.

RECESS
This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors recessed at 4:28 

p.m. and reconvened at 7:00 p.m.  All members were present and 

Chairwoman Hannigan presided.

Page 13Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Conduct a Public Hearing to consider the Woodcreek66 project 

to create 66 residential lots on 33 acres of land southwest of 

the intersection of Rockville Road and Suisun Valley Roads, 

including consideration of a Final Environmental Impact 

Report, a 66 lot Major Subdivision Application (No. S-11-01) , a 

Rezoning Petition (Z-11-01) to rezone 33 acres from R-TC-1AC 

to R-TC-10, and a Policy Plan Overlay District (PP-11-01)

18

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen provided the Board with a 

request to provide an abbreviated presentation, open the public hearing, take 

public comment and then continue the hearing indefinitely.

Supervisor Seifert commented on the request to continue and asked if a 

future review would be a full review of the project with public comment on all 

of the issues before them currently.

Mr. Emlen noted that it would.

Principal Planner James Leland provided the Board with an overview of the 

Woodcreek66 project including the department recommendation, 

neighborhood map, project description, project review and subsequent 

review.

Chairwoman Hannigan opened the public hearing.

Jim Grassi, representing the applicant, provided the Board with an overview 

of the Woodcreek66 project including General Plan Land Use Designation, 

units proposed, community benefits and historical land use designations.

Supervisor Seifert asked if the justification from the thirty-four to sixty-six was 

because of the historical land use designations.

Mr. Grassi confirmed that it was and then commented on the General Plan 

designation for the number of units. He then continued to provide the Board 

with information on studies, reports and maps of the project area.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on this matter and the following comments were received:

A) David Marianno, Suisun City, commented on urbanization of rural area

and water concerns.

B) Don Mooney, representing Rockville Homeowner’s Association,

commented on the uncertainty of water supply and sewer service.

C) Dana Dean, representing Upper Green Valley homeowners, commented

on the uncertainty of water supply.

Page 14Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

D) Frank Ascarit, Suisun Valley, commented on the size of detention ponds

in the project and sewer concerns for current properties surrounding the 

project.

E) Jim Weins, Fairfield, commented on impacts to well water.

F) Trudy Weins, Fairfield, commented on the cost for current properties to

hook into the proposed utilities.

G) David Martin, Fairfield, commented in opposition to the project, violation

of Measure L, a past proposal for the project area, impacts of development, 

public safety concerns with traffic, widening of Suisun Valley Road, and 

reduction of the number of homes allowed on the project.

H) Michelle Wohler, Vacaville, commented in support of the project and job

growth.

I) Lars Wohler, Vacaville, commented in support of the project and job

growth.

J) George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented in opposition to the project,

reducing the project to one unit per acre, traffic concerns and water supply.

K) Amy Drake, President of the Green Valley Landowners Association,

commented in opposition to the project  and submitted a letter to the Board.

L) Scott Loney and Alicia Worley, Fairfield, commented on planned orderly

growth and in support of the project.

M) Larry Welch, Fairfield, commented on safety concerns with flooding,

public safety, traffic concerns and in opposition to the project.

N) Bob Ogan, Fairfield, commented on the number of homes in the project,

values of surrounding homes and in support of the project.

O) Carla Nelson, Fairfield, commented on the project location to Rockville

Hills Park and in opposition to the project.

P) John Nelson, Fairfield, commented on diverting water from the creek,

concerns with past and future flooding and in opposition to the project.

Q) Esther Pryor, Fairfield, commented on current zoning of one house per

acre and in opposition to the project.

R) John Silva, Fairfield, commented on flooding in the area, current zoning of

one house per acre, rezoning to more units per acre, and in opposition to the 

project.

S) Jerry Moore, Fairfield, commented on water supply concerns and in

opposition to the project.

Page 15Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

T) Roberto Valdez, Vacaville, commented on concerns with impacts to

Native American historical burial sites in the area, to wildlife and plant life in 

the wetlands, Rockville Park and in opposition to the project.

U) Maureen Crawford, Vacaville, commented on concerns with loss of

wildlife and plant life, disturbing Native American burial sites and in 

opposition to the project.

V) Duane Kromm, representing Solano Orderly Growth Committee and

Solano Group of the Sierra Club commented on concerns with utility 

connections, growth concerns, Measure L, flaws in the EIR and in opposition 

to the project.

W) Paulette Yost, Fairfield, commented on concerns with proposed widening

of Suisun Valley Road to turn left into the development.

X) John Alfiers, Fairfield, commented on concerns with the Green Valley

Fault and lack of a seismology report disclosure for future homebuyers.

Mr. Leland noted that the department supported the continuance of the item 

and the ability to address the speaker’s comments at the next hearing.

Supervisor Vasquez made a motion to continue the public hearing and asked 

about noticing for the public.

Mr. Emlen noted that a full noticing to the public would take place if the item 

was continued.

Supervisor Seifert commented in disagreement with the motion and noted 

the need to address various concerns including inconsistencies with the 

zoning ordinance and orderly growth initiative. She also commented on 

funding spent on the Middle Green Valley Project to masterfully grow the 

community and enhance the County.  She noted that the proposed project 

did not line up with those same goals and ideals and commented on the 

need to create an environment acceptable to current residents. She also 

noted that the proposed project would create an urban development in a 

rural environment that did not fit the area. 

Supervisor Thomson agreed with Supervisor Seifert and commented on 

water and sewer standards not being met by the proposed project.

Chairwoman Hannigan asked if the applicant could come back with revised 

plan that addresses the issues if the hearing was continued.

Mr. Leland confirmed that the applicant could and provided the Board with an 

overview of options for action on the item.

In response to a comment from Mr. Emlen, County Counsel Dennis Bunting 

noted that an uncertain date was not advised. He recommended looking at a 

January or February 2016 Board meeting date.

Page 16Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Chairwoman Hannigan commented on the high hurdles for the applicant to 

overcome and concerns with density and flooding. She noted that there had 

been septic failures and asked what the resolution would be for those 

homeowners to resolve that issue, aside from bringing the sewer district 

closer to them.

Mr. Emlen provided the Board with information on the challenges to current 

homeowners for septic systems and advised that there were ways to 

engineer the systems, however they would likely be expensive.

Supervisor Spering supported the motion and noted that the issues brought 

up by the speakers should be addressed. He further noted that the project 

should be viewed as an infill project and that it fit the area. He then 

commented on the project being litigated in the future and that the developer 

would be imposed upon to provide help to current residents with their 

connections. He commented on the project providing added value to the 

property and meeting housing needs.

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that a continuance of the hearing to February 

2, 2016  would allow the developer to address concerns and give the Board 

an opportunity to vote on the project.

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

continued this item to the February 2, 2016 regular meeting.  Supervisors 

Seifert and Thomson voted no.  So ordered by 3-2 vote.

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS AND REPORTS ON MEETINGS

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the Board to make comments or 

reports on meetings. The following comments were received:

A. Supervisor Vasquez requested that this meeting of the Solano County 

Board of Supervisors be adjourned in memory of Carl McAnally, an active 

member of the Vacaville community.

B. Supervisor Vasquez requested that this meeting of the Solano County 

Board of Supervisors be adjourned in memory of Champ Boykin, an active 

member of the Vacaville community.

Page 17Solano County



November 10, 2015Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

ADJOURN:
This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors adjourned at 8:30 

p.m. in memory of Albert Joseph Coglianese, Carl McAnally and Champ 

Boykin.  Next meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors will be 

November 24, 2015 at 8:30 a.m., Board Chambers, 675 Texas Street, 

Fairfield, California.

________________________________

ERIN HANNIGAN, Chairwoman

Solano County Board of Supervisors

BIRGITTA E. CORSELLO, Clerk

Solano County Board of Supervisors

By ______________________________

Jeanette Bellinder, Chief Deputy Clerk

Page 18Solano County


